## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-865

LOWER TRIBUNAL Nos. CRC 84-00578 CFANO, CRC 84-00589 CFANO

\_\_\_\_\_

JAMES FLOYD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN P. ABATECOLA Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0112887

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Ave., Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 6, 1984, Mr. Floyd was charged by indictment with one count of first-degree murder and related offenses (R. 6-7). He pled not guilty. After a jury trial, Mr. Floyd was found guilty on August 23, 1984 (R. 883-885). The jury recommended death by a vote of seven (7) to five (5).

On August 27, 1984, the trial court imposed a sentence of death on the count of first-degree murder and consecutive sentences of five years imprisonment on each of the nine related counts (R. 950-951).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Floyd's convictions, but overturned his sentence of death because: (a) the trial court improperly found the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor; (b) the trial court improperly found the murder to prevent arrest aggravating factor; and (c) the trial court failed to instruct the jury adequately about non-statutory mitigating factors. Floyd v. State, 497 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 1986).

Mr. Floyd's second sentencing hearing was held on January 12-14, 1988 before Circuit Court Judge Richard A. Luce. On January 14, 1988, the jury by a vote of eight (8) to four (4) returned an advisory recommendation of death (RS. 1039).

On February 29, 1988, the trial court imposed a sentence of death, stating that his personal belief was that the Florida Supreme Court incorrectly prevented him from doubling aggravators (RS. 1066); the Florida Supreme Court was

incorrect in specifically finding that the murder to prevent arrest aggravating factor was not present in this case (RS. 1066); and that the Florida Supreme Court was incorrect in finding that the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor was not present in this case (RS. 1068-1069). The trial judge said he would ignore these aggravating factors, notwithstanding his personal opinions. The trial court found two aggravating factors<sup>1</sup> and no mitigating ones, statutory or non-statutory (R. 1072). The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Floyd's second sentence of death, Floyd v. State, 569 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 1990).

Mr. Floyd's initial Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 motion was filed on August 17, 1992. Amended motions were filed August 1, 1994, April 9, 1998 and November 13, 1998. On July 21, 1999, the court issued an order summarily denying Mr. Floyd an evidentiary hearing on all of his claims. On August 2, 1999, counsel for Mr. Floyd filed a motion to set aside and/or reconsider order, arguing that the trial court relied on ex parte communication with the State Attorney to deny Mr. Floyd relief. Mr. Floyd also filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge based on the improper conduct of the State and the judge. The trial court denied all of Mr. Floyd's motions (PC-R1. 935).
Mr. Floyd filed a Notice of Appeal (PC-R1. 937).

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ The aggravating factors were that the murder was committed for financial gain and it was heinous, atrocious and cruel (RS. 332-337).

While the case was pending in the Florida Supreme Court, Florida Governor Bush signed into law a statute that prohibits the execution of the mentally retarded, Fla. Stat. Sec. 921.137. Mr. Floyd filed a motion in the Florida Supreme Court seeking to brief the issue as it pertained to Mr. Floyd's case.

On January 17, 2002, the Florida Supreme Court ordered that Mr. Floyd was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on trial counsel's effectiveness at both the guilt and penalty phases of his trial and on his Brady claim. Floyd v. State, 808 So. 2d 175 (Fla. 2002). The Court denied the motion to file supplemental briefing on the mental retardation claim without prejudice to file the claim in the trial court on remand. Floyd v. State, 808 So. 2d 175 (Fla. 2002).

Following the remand, on April 15, 2002, Mr. Floyd filed an Amended 3.850 motion. This motion pertained to mental retardation issues as well as a Ring claim. A Huff hearing was conducted on July 12, 2002 (PC-S. 235). On July 17, 2002, the circuit court issued a Case Management Order, which granted a bifurcated evidentiary hearing.<sup>2</sup>

On October 21, 2002, Mr. Floyd filed in the circuit court a Motion to Stay Proceedings Pending Adoption of Rules of Procedure by the Florida Supreme Court in relation to mental

 $<sup>^2</sup>$ The first hearing would concern the claims in Mr. Floyd's amended motion relating to mental retardation (PC-R. 99). The second hearing would related to claims remanded by the Florida Supreme Court (PC-R. 100).

retardation determinations (PC-R. 1681). The motion was denied on October 23, 2002 (PC-R. 1696). Subsequently, on October 23, 2002, Mr. Floyd filed in the Florida Supreme Court a Petition Seeking to Invoke this Court's All Writs Jurisdiction<sup>3</sup> as well as Motion to Stay Proceedings.<sup>4</sup>

On October 28-29, 2002, an evidentiary hearing was held in the circuit court regarding Mr. Floyd's claim that he was mentally retarded (PC-R. 1724). During the hearing, Mr. Floyd filed a motion to disqualify the judge due to improper ex parte communication with a court appointed expert, Dr. Sidney Merin (PC-S. 7-25). The court denied the motion (PC-S. 26-7).

Following an Order by the circuit court finding that Mr. Floyd was not mentally retarded (PC-R. 2118-2131), on December 31, 2002, Mr. Floyd filed a Notice of Appeal (PC-R. 2133). On January 21, 2003, the State moved to dismiss the aforementioned appeal on the basis that the Order was an interlocutory ruling, as the postconviction proceedings had not yet been completed. On January 29, 2003, Mr. Floyd filed a Motion to Consolidate as well as a Motion to Stay

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>An amended petition was filed on October 23, 2002. On March 14, 2003, this Court issued an order denying Appellant's amended petition seeking to invoke the Court's all writs jurisdiction. Floyd, Et Al. v. Charles J. Crist, Jr., Etc., Et Al, Case NO SC02-2295 (March 14, 2003).

 $<sup>^4</sup>$ This motion was denied by the Florida Supreme Court. <u>Floyd v. State</u>, Case NO SC02-2295 (October 28, 2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>An evidentiary hearing was set for February, 2003, on additional claims remanded by this Court following a postconviction appeal.

Proceedings in the Florida Supreme Court, until after oral arguments were heard in the case of <u>Burns v. State</u>, Case No. SC01-166, an argument which concerned mental retardation.

On February 13, 2003, the Florida Supreme Court granted the State's motion to dismiss without prejudice to raise the claim again upon completion of the circuit court postconviction proceedings. Floyd v. State, 839 So. 2d 698 (Fla. 2003) On that same day, the Court denied the Motion to Consolidate. Floyd v. State, Case NO SC03-2 (February 13, 2003).

On February 19-20, 2003, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Floyd's remanded claims, which included <u>Brady</u> and ineffective assistance of counsel issues. On May 1, 2003, the lower court issued an order denying relief. This appeal follows.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### THE TRIAL

"It's a circumstantial case. I've said that all along. The State hasn't tried to hide a single thing."

(R. 827)(Excerpt from prosecutor's closing argument)(emphasis added). Mr. Floyd's conviction did not rest on any physical evidence from the crime scene. Mr. Floyd's conviction was not secured through eye witness testimony placing him at the victim's residence at any time, much less the time of the murder. Mr. Floyd's conviction rested on suggestive and circumstantial evidence.

There was testimony that motorcycle tire marks by the victim's house were similar in tread design to the ones on Mr. Floyd's motorcycle (R. 673-82). However, it was acknowledged that the tread design was a quite common one found on Japanese motorcycle street bikes (R. 680). There was testimony that Negroid hair fragments were found on the bed spread, bed sheets and sweater of the victim (R. 701-3). Other than the fact that Mr. Floyd is an African American, no evidence was presented that these hairs belonged to him or, even more tellingly, that these hairs were even similar in nature to Mr. Floyd's hairs.

There was testimony that an old business card from Suncoast Lawn Service was discovered in the victim's belongings, with the owner of the Service being listed as Johnnie Floyd (R. 555, 559). The names "James" was handwritten in the upper right corner of the card (R. 1002). The victim's daughter identified the handwriting as her father's, and she testified that he had been dead for at least eight years (R. 561-2). She was not aware of anyone from Suncoast Lawn Service having done work for her mother (R. 559). There was simply no evidence that Mr. Floyd had ever been in the victim's residence.

There was additional testimony that, following Mr. Floyd's arrest, a sock with a brown substance on it was found in Mr. Floyd's jacket (R. 514-15). Testing on the sock indicated that it was the same blood type as the victim, type

O (R. 687-8). No evidence was presented that this was the victim's blood.

There was testimony from a jailhouse snitch, Gregory
Anderson, that Mr. Floyd admitted to the stabbing of a white
woman (R. 731-2). Following the postconviction evidentiary
hearing, the trial court found that the defense attorney had
"proceeded to quite effectively discredit Anderson by
questioning him concerning his letter writing to Judge Walker
(the judge assigned to Anderson's case at the time), his prior
involvement as a 'snitch' in other cases, and his apparent
favorable treatment in prior cases." (PC-R. 2162). There was
also testimony that Mr. Floyd gave inconsistent stories to
police about his whereabouts during a three day period
encompassing the time of the crime (R. 628-69).6

The only physical evidence connecting Mr. Floyd to any crime was the victim's checkbook in Mr. Floyd's possession (R. 498-9), along with the forged checks. The Defense never contested these facts, or that Mr. Floyd committed forgery (R. 390-1, 520-1). The Defense maintained that Mr. Floyd found the victim's checkbook in a dumpster (R. 390-1).

#### THE RESENTENCING

Mr. Floyd's penalty phase defense consisted of seven lay witnesses whose cumulative testimony consisted of the facts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Considering Mr. Floyd's claim of mental retardation, <u>infra</u>, the fact that he couldn't accurately recall his whereabouts over a three day period should hardly be surprising.

that Mr. Floyd's mother was an alcoholic (RS. 850, 857, 872 904); that Mr. Floyd was affected by it (RS. 873, 904); that Mr. Floyd worked for his father and was a good worker (RS. 849-50, 855, 874, 902); that his father died in 1983 from cancer (RS. 909); and that Mr. Floyd was not known to be violent (RS. 852, 856, 905, 912). There was also testimony that about six months before the homicide, Mr. Floyd began to have mood swings, would be in a big depression, was almost manic, and perhaps was on drugs (RS. 859, 863-4); and that Mr. Floyd began missing work and was suspected of stealing things (RS. 860-3).

During the presentation of its case, the Defense elicited testimony from a witness, Thomas Snell, that he never knew of Mr. Floyd to be in any kind of trouble (RS. 873). As a result of this questioning, the court found that "the defense has opened the door and that the State, if they so desire, may inquire as to knowledge regarding other criminal actions and whether that would change that opinion." (RS. 892).

As a result, the State was permitted to ask the witness whether he was aware of the fact that Mr. Floyd was convicted of a prior petit theft, two grand thefts, a burglary and a failure to appear (RS. 894). Further, the State was permitted to introduce the judgments and sentences as to each of these offenses into evidence (RS. 935-7, 942). In sentencing Mr. Floyd to death, the court found no mitigating factors (RS. 1072).

#### THE POSTCONVICTION EVIDENTIARY HEARING

#### PART I-MENTAL RETARDATION

Four expert witnesses were called to testify during this portion of the evidentiary hearing: Dr. Merin, Dr. Toomer, Dr. Gamache and Dr. Keyes.<sup>7</sup>

Dr. Merin testified that he "probably" was a mental retardation expert (PC-R. 1774). Dr. Merin didn't know how much of his practice has dealt with mental retardation. He has never written any articles, nor has he done any research on mental retardation (PC-R. 1774-5). However, in 1956, Dr. Merin did write a doctoral dissertation involving how children with different levels of intelligence would respond or could be predicted to behave under certain circumstances (PC-R. 1775). Dr. Merin was of the opinion that research has not changed much on mental retardation since 1956. Id.

Dr. Merin testified that he reviewed four volumes of records compiled by the defense as well as the raw data from the Wechsler Adult III (PC-R. 1738).8 Dr. Merin saw Mr. Floyd

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Following the submission of an expert list by each party, on July 29, 2002, the court issued an Order Appointing Mental Retardation Experts (PC-R. 105-6). In its order, the Court appointed two experts from the State's list, Dr. Merin and Dr. Gamache, and one expert from the defense list, Dr. Toomer. Dr. Keyes, not a courtappointed expert, was called as a defense witness (PC-S. 1).

<sup>\*</sup>The Wechsler examination was performed by a defense expert (PC-R. 1739). Dr. Merin testified that he needed the raw data from this test because it was a more comprehensive test (PC-R. 1773).

for one and a half hours in the morning and a portion of the afternoon (PC-R. 1739-40).

Dr. Merin did not believe that Mr. Floyd was malingering during the testing, but he did "consider in my finding or I did indicate that his general personality or there was a lack of motivation or depression present." (PC-R. 1744). With regard to the testing, Dr. Merin took a history and observed Mr. Floyd clinically (PC-R. 1738-9; 1746). Mr. Floyd was given a Beta-III examination, a WAIS, a Paradigm, a vocabulary test, a sentence completion test and the Stroup test (PC-R. 1746-8). Dr. Merin also gave a test relating to brain damage (PC-R. 1774).

Mr. Floyd scored a 70 on the Beta exam (PC-R. 1786). Dr. Merin didn't recall that the Department of Corrections had also given Mr. Floyd a Beta in 1981 (PC-R. 1786). After being shown the background materials he had received, which showed a Beta score of less than 60, Dr. Merin proclaimed that this was a different Beta (PC-R. 1786). Dr. Merin then attributed the change in score to an upgrade in the demographics, along with a reformation of the test (PC-R. 1789).

In performing his evaluation, Dr. Merin relied heavily on the DSM-IV rather than the statute, although there was no reference by the court to use it (PC-R. 1770-1). Dr. Merin determined that Mr. Floyd's verbal IQ was 75, which would place him in the borderline range (PC-R. 1750). Mr. Floyd's non-verbal IQ was also 75 (PC-R. 1751). His full scale was 73

(PC-R. 1769), which would make it a score of sixty-eight to seventy-eight (PC-R. 1751). 9 When Dr. Merin was presented with letters that were purportedly written by Mr. Floyd, he thought that the letters reflected a higher level of intelligence than one would expect, given Mr. Floyd's IQ scores (PC-R. 1756). 10

Dr. Merin found that Mr. Floyd had adaptive capabilities in the areas of vocabulary and word usage (PC-R. 1761); the fact that Mr Floyd wouldn't discuss the events surrounding his murder<sup>11</sup> (PC-R. 1761); that Mr. Floyd would talk about his father and not the murder, because statements about his father might be helpful to him (PC-R. 1761-2); that Mr. Floyd provided for his children (PC-R. 1762); that he had friends prior to his present incarceration and made one or two friends in prison (PC-R. 1763); that, outside of prison, he would play sports or do nothing (PC-R. 1763); that he did not frequent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Dr. Merin again opined that Mr. Floyd had not malingered on the test: "I don't think he knew this stuff. Where he performed well, he could. On this test, where he performed poorly, I don't think he could perform it any better." (PC-R. 1753).

<sup>10</sup>At Mr. Floyd's trial in 1984, Gregory Anderson testified that he wrote lots of letters while he was in the Pinellas County Jail and that Mr. Floyd asked him to write letters on his behalf because "I believe that my opinion is that he thought I could write them better." (R. 750). Despite such testimony from a State witness, the prosecutor at Mr. Floyd's evidentiary hearing repeatedly asked the court-appointed experts if Mr. Floyd could write letters and what it meant for his adaptive skills. Yet, the State never authenticated the letters or proved that Mr. Floyd wrote them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Dr. Merin acknowledged that it might have made a difference if he had known that Mr. Floyd was told by his defense counsel not to talk about the offense (PC-R. 1799).

bars or lounges (PC-R. 1763); that he worked for his father (PC-R. 1763); that he did odd jobs (PC-R. 1763); and that he was a custodian (PC-R. 1763).

Dr. Merin didn't speak to any family members, employers, co-workers or prison officials (PC-R. 1796-7). He spoke only to Mr. Floyd (PC-R. 1797). Dr. Merin didn't confirm whether anything Mr. Floyd told him was true (PC-R. 1797). He didn't know whether Mr. Floyd could hold down a job or whether he gave money to his family (PC-R. 1797). Dr. Merin didn't know what Mr. Floyd's job performance was or whether he was able to care for himself (PC-R. 1797-8). Dr. Merin thought it was odd that Mr. Floyd didn't want to talk about sexual abuse (PC-R. 1801).

Dr. Merin acknowledged that Mr. Floyd had difficulty with mental flexibility (PC-R. 1808), that he couldn't shift mental gears or change from one concept to another (PC-R. 1808). 12

During cross-examination by the defense, it was pointed out to Dr. Merin that, on direct examination, in discussing his diagnostic features, he never mentioned an onset before age eighteen (PC-R. 1772). Dr. Merin also acknowledged that he never mentioned this anywhere in his report. Id. Dr. Merin conceded that the Children's Wechsler Test contained in Mr. Floyd's school records, which indicated an IQ in the fifties, would be an indication that Mr. Floyd had been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Further, Mr. Floyd might have had some brain damage, but not as severe as the Halstead indicated (PC-R. 1808).

retarded before the age of eighteen (PC-R. 1790-1). However, Dr. Merin did not think it was necessary to put this in his report because it happened thirty years ago (PC-R. 1791). With regard to Mr. Floyd's school records, Dr. Merin did not place a great deal of emphasis on them because "We don't know the reasons for those scores." (PC-R. 1792).

Dr. Toomer testified that his specialty is in the area of clinical forensic psychology (PC-R. 1822). Dr. Toomer was originally contacted in this case by collateral counsel in 1992 to perform a complete psychological evaluation of Mr. Floyd (PC-R. 1825). The evaluation consisted of a clinical interview, as well as an assessment of mental functioning (PC-R. 1829). Based on the totality of the data that Dr. Toomer reviewed in 1992, he found Mr. Floyd to be mentally retarded (PC-R. 1830).

More recently, Dr. Toomer had been appointed by the court to render an opinion as to whether Mr. Floyd is mentally retarded (PC-R. 1826). In comparison to his evaluation in 1992, Dr. Toomer noticed some improvement in Mr. Floyd's overall demeanor and some increase in fluency (PC-R. 1831). Dr. Toomer attributed this change to the fact that Mr. Floyd was in a highly structured environment. <u>Id</u>.

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$ The Bender, a wide range of achievement testing, as well as the Wechsler Adult Stage were administered (PC-R. 1829). Due to the level of impairment, Dr. Toomer was unable to administer this test and instead utilized a revised Beta exam (PC-R. 1830). The Beta IQ was less than 60. <u>Id</u>. The score was consistent with the test that was conducted by the prison upon Mr. Floyd's entry there. <u>Id</u>.

With regard to intellectual functioning, Mr. Floyd's IQ score was seventy-five (PC-R. 1832). 14 Dr. Toomer proceeded to examine other aspects of Mr. Floyd's overall functioning (PC-R. 1833). He assessed Mr. Floyd's academic skills; he gave Mr. Floyd the Bender test, to determine whether there might be any underlying neurological involvement; and he then attempted to gather data relating to overall adaptive functioning. Id. Dr. Toomer did this mainly by examining past records which described Mr. Floyd's functioning, both from an educational and a psycho-social perspective. Id. Dr. Toomer also relied on what Mr. Floyd told him, but it would have compromised the integrity of the testing process to rely solely on this information (PC-R. 1835-6).

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