IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES FLOYD,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC03-865

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR

Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0503843 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813) 287-7910 (813) 281-5501 Facsimile

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

A party concerned about the other side's use of peremptory challenges must make a timely objection and demonstrate on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a strong likelihood that they have been challenged solely because of their race. Τf a party accomplishes this, then the trial court must decide if there is a substantial likelihood that the peremptory challenges are being exercised solely on the basis of Ιf the court finds no race. such likelihood, no inquiry may be made of the exercising the person questioned peremptories. On the other hand, if the court decided that such a likelihood has been shown to exist, the burden shifts to the complained-about party to show that the questioned challenges were not exercised solely because of the prospective jurors' race. The reasons given in response to the court's inquiry need not be equivalent to those for a challenge for cause. If the party shows that the challenges were based on the particular case on trial, the parties or witnesses, or characteristics of the challenged persons other than race, then the inquiry should end and jury selection should continue. On the other hand, if the party has actually been challenging prospective jurors solely on the basis of race, then the court should dismiss that jury pool and start voir dire over with a new pool.

Although employing a burden-shifting analysis, the <u>Neil</u> test did not require Love to make a second objection after the State offered its explanation. <u>Neil</u>, 457 So. 2d at 486-87. Neither did <u>Castillo</u> or <u>Batson</u>. Instead, <u>Neil</u>, the seminal case on point, required an initial objection, after which the burden was placed on the trial court to determine if the peremptories were bing used solely on the basis of race. <u>Id.</u> In fact, <u>Slappy</u>, decided after the

resentencing in this case, discusses at length the burden on the trial judge to determine if the State's reason is legitimate. Slappy, 522 So. 2d at 22. In Slappy, defense counsel lodged his first and only objection, after which the trial court conducted the appropriate inquiry and accepted the State's explanation as sufficient. On appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed, finding that the record did not support the State's explanation. <u>Slappy v. State</u>, 503 So. 2d 350 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). The Florida Supreme Court agreed with the district court's conclusion, finding "no record basis for the state's explanation." Slappy, 522 So. 2d at 24.

Consistent with this trend, the Florida Supreme Court, on the direct appeal from the resentencing here, extended this reasoning and stated: "[i]f the explanation is challenged by opposing counsel, the trial court must review the record to determine record support for the reason advanced." Floyd, 569 So. 2d Further, the court added " . . . the trial 1229. cannot be faulted for assuming it [the court explanation] is so [true] when defense counsel is silent and the assertion remains unchallenged." <u>Floyd</u>, 569 So. 2d at 1229-30.

It appears from this court's review of applicable case law that the direct appeal from the resentencing in this case is the first time the Florida Supreme Court determined that the complaining party must lodge a second or separate objection aimed specifically at the explanation if the explanation itself is to be challenged. See also State v. Fox, 587 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 1991). A review of cases where no second or specific objection was raised after the State offered its explanation (and thus the issue was not preserved for appeal) have all cited to the direct appeal from the resentencing in this case. Bowden v. State, 588 So. 2d 225, 229 (Fla. 1991); Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 788-89 (Fla. 1992); Ratliff v. State, 666 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Carter v. State, 762 So. 2d 1024, 1026-27 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000); Rimmer v. State, 825 So. 2d 304, 320 (Fla. 2002).

Given the foregoing, this court is unable to conclude that Love rendered deficient performance in failing to lodge a second or separate objection aimed specifically at the State's explanation. <u>See</u> <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); <u>Blanco</u>

v. Wainwright, 507 So. 2d 1377, 1381 (Fla. 1987) (the reviewing court must attempt to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight by measuring defense counsel's performance at the time of trial under the then-prevailing professional norms). At the time the resentencing was conducted in this case, the law was such that a single objection was sufficient to put the Indeed, this is what Love trial court on notice. thought at the time. [T: 63]. It was not until the appeal from this resentencing that the additional requirement of a second or separate objection was imposed in order to preserve the issue for appeal. Consequently, the defendant has not met his burden of proving deficient performance or prejudice under Strickland. This claim is therefore denied.

Next, CCRC-S alleges that Love failed to request additional peremptories after the trial court improperly refused to strike prospective juror Hendry for cause. On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court concluded that this court erred in failing to remove Hendry for based his "unqualified" cause on predisposition to impose the death penalty for all premeditated murders . . . " Floyd, 569 So. 2d at 1230. That said, the Florida Supreme Court determined that this issue, like the previous, was not preserved Id. Although Love used a peremptory to for appeal. remove prospective juror Hendry from the panel and then exhausted all of his peremptories, he never requested an additional peremptory to replace that which he used on Hendry. Id.; [R2: 671].

Here, under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel, this claim must fail because the defendant fails to show prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>. Assuming without deciding that it was deficient to not request an additional peremptory, there has been absolutely no showing that Love needed an additional peremptory in that a juror, unacceptable to him, served on the jury. This court notes that this claim was not developed at the evidentiary hearing. Without more, this claim is speculative, and is therefore denied.

(PC2 AddV/646-649).

The trial court's resolution of this claim was proper. Floyd asserts that the counsel's failure to adequately object to the State's peremptory strike was based on ignorance of the law, but the Order entered below thoroughly analyzes the applicable case law and concludes that counsel's actions were not deficient in light of the existing law. Floyd has not offered any contrary legal analysis or provided case law to be considered beyond that outlined by the judge below.

Floyd's assertion that counsel should have requested additional peremptories is similarly unpersuasive. Floyd relegates this allegation to a one sentence footnote, and the lack of any meaningful argument should preclude consideration of this claim. <u>Duest</u>, 555 So. 2d at 852. If considered, the claim must be denied as insufficient since Floyd does not attempt to explain why additional peremptory strikes should have been requested and how they could have been used.

C. Prejudice

On these facts, Floyd has failed to establish any attorney deficiency to warrant relief. However, <u>Strickland</u> states if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, it is not necessary to address whether counsel's performance fell below the standard of reasonably competent counsel. 466 U.S. at 697. In this case, even if deficient performance is presumed, the lack of prejudice is clear.

Floyd has not even attempted to identify prejudice in his claim that counsel was ineffective during voir dire. He has not asserted that he was denied a fair trial or that any objectionable juror was permitted to serve.

Nor can prejudice be found in the failure to obtain records or consult a mental health expert. Floyd does not directly discuss what the records or further investigation would reveal. The litany of supposed mitigation described in Floyd's brief is taken entirely from the postconviction (see p. 75) evidentiary hearing testimony of Dr. Sultan. But her conclusion of mental retardation was rejected below, and her suggestion of possible brain damage was not persuasive. She is not a neuropsychologist, and the report she reviewed from a Dr. Crown was not accepted into evidence or considered by the court below (PC2 V12/2120). Similarly, the claim that Floyd was sexually abused as a child is not supported by any credible evidence. Although Floyd made this claim at one time to Dr. Sultan, he has provided many varied descriptions of his childhood environment, and nothing beyond this conclusory allegation has ever been provided to establish this mitigation. The remaining assertions of low intelligence and depression are the only new mitigating factors proven in postconviction, and these are not compelling and clearly would not change the result in this case when

compared with the facts of this senseless crime.

Comparable cases support the judge's conclusion below that no possible prejudice could be discerned from counsel's performance in this case, even if deficiency could be proven or In Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216, 226 (Fla. presumed. 1998), the jury had recommended death by a vote of seven to five; the judge had found three aggravating factors (during a robbery/pecuniary gain; HAC; and CCP) and the statutory mitigator of no significant criminal history. There was trial testimony of Rutherford's positive character traits and military service in Vietnam. Additional testimony in postconviction revealed that Rutherford suffered from an extreme emotional disturbance and had a harsh childhood, with an abusive, alcoholic father. This Court unanimously concluded that the additional mitigation evidence would not have led to the imposition of a life sentence in light of the substantial aggravating circumstances. <u>Rutherford</u>, 727 So. 2d at 226. See <u>also</u> <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 692 So. 2d 874, 878 (Fla. 1997) (aggravating factors of during a burglary, HAC, and prior violent felony overwhelmed the mitigation testimony of family and friends offered at the postconviction hearing); Haliburton v. Singletary, 691 So. 2d 466, 471 (Fla. 1997) (no reasonable probability of different outcome had mental health expert

testified, in light of strong aggravating factors); Tompkins v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1370, 1373 (Fla. 1989) (postconviction evidence of abused childhood and drug addiction would not have changed outcome in light of aggravating factors of HAC, during a felony, and prior violent convictions); Buenoano v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990), (evidence of impoverished childhood and psychologically dysfunction would not change result); Mendyk <u>v. State</u>, 592 So. 2d 1076, 1080 (Fla. 1992) (asserted failure to investigate and present evidence of mental deficiencies, intoxication at time of offense, history of substance abuse, deprived childhood, and lack of significant prior criminal activity "simply does not constitute the quantum capable of persuading us that it would have made a difference in this case, " given three strong aggravators); Routly v. State, 590 So. 2d 397, 401-402 (Fla. 1991) (additional evidence as to defendant's difficult childhood and significant educational/behavioral problems did not provide reasonable probability of life sentence if evidence had been presented); Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So. 2d 541, 546 (Fla. 1990) (cumulative background witnesses would not have changed result of penalty proceeding). This is clearly not a case where the postconviction hearing revealed substantial mitigation that had not been presented at trial.

In order to establish prejudice to demonstrate a Sixth Amendment violation in a penalty phase proceeding, a defendant must show that, but for the alleged errors, the sentencer would have weighed the balance of the aggravating and mitigating factors and find that the circumstances did not warrant the death penalty. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694. The aggravating factors found in this case were: committed for pecuniary gain, and committed in a heinous, atrocious or cruel manner. Floyd has not and cannot meet the standard required to prove that his attorney was ineffective when the facts to support these aggravating factors are compared to the purported mitigation now argued by collateral counsel. Therefore, this Court must deny relief on this issue.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING FLOYD'S CLAIM THAT, BECAUSE OF HIS MENTAL RETARDATION, HIS DEATH SENTENCE VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AS WELL AS THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Floyd's next issue alleges that the trial court erred in denying his claim that his death sentence is unconstitutional because he is mentally retarded. An evidentiary hearing was held on this claim below. This Court defers to the trial

court's factual findings; legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. <u>Stephens</u>, 748 So. 2d at 1032-34; <u>Guzman</u>, 721 So. 2d at 1159.

Floyd challenges several aspects of the mental retardation ruling rendered below. He asserts that he is entitled to a jury determination of retardation; that the procedures used below to litigate this issue were flawed and improper; and that the lower court erred in relying on experts that did not have sufficient knowledge and experience about mental retardation. As will be seen, none of these allegations provide any basis to disturb the conclusion reached by the court below, and Floyd is not entitled to any relief on this issue.

A. Jury Trial

Floyd's claim of entitlement to a jury trial pursuant to <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), on the issue of his alleged retardation must be denied. It must be noted initially that the request for a jury determination has been waived; a defendant cannot wait until postconviction proceedings to assert a purported right to a jury trial as to a particular issue. In addition, this Court has rejected the argument that <u>Ring</u> created a right to a jury determination on this issue. <u>See generally</u>, <u>Bottoson v. Moore</u>, 833 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 537 U.S. 1070 (2002). Bottoson had presented a mental retardation

issue in litigation during an active death warrant, and the trial court held an evidentiary hearing, ultimately ruling that Bottoson had failed to establish retardation. This Court rejected Bottoson's later plea that he was entitled to a jury determination on this issue.

A finding as to mental retardation does not "increase" the maximum sentence for first degree capital murder. Nothing in <u>Ring</u> or <u>Atkins v. Virginia</u>, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), supports Floyd's claim on this issue. A mental state is not an aggravating factor that makes a defendant death eligible, it is only a mitigating factor which may or may not be deserving of weight in a given case. Analytically it is no different than a question of competency to stand trial or sanity to be executed, which are properly determined by a judge. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Hunter v.</u> <u>State</u>, 660 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 1995) (competency to proceed is matter for judge). The suggestion that a jury must decide the issue of mental retardation is meritless.

B. Procedures

Floyd's attack on the procedures employed below is similarly unpersuasive. According to Floyd, the court erred in "ignoring the protocol" by appointing three experts rather than two, as required in Section 921.137, Florida Statutes, and in failing to provide standards for the appointed experts to apply. Of

course, Section 921.137 does not apply to postconviction proceedings, and Floyd has not offered any authority to support the suggestion that a trial judge has no discretion to appoint additional experts to assist with a factual determination when desired. Rather, he urges the conclusory claim that he was denied due process because the court "stacked the deck" against him in its selection of experts.

The record does not reflect that Floyd objected below to the number of experts appointed or the manner by which the court appointments took place. A discussion about the appointment of experts took place at the hearing held on July 12, 2002 (PC2 SV2/235-254). Floyd did have other concerns about the court's actions and procedures in litigating the mental retardation issue, but his current complaint about the appointed experts has not been preserved for appellate review and therefore any possible due process violation has been waived.

In addition, this is a matter clearly within the discretion of the trial judge, and Floyd has not offered any basis to support a conclusion that the judge abused his discretion in this regard below.

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